NIHR National Institute for Health and Care Research

Journals Library



Efficacy and Mechanism Evaluation

Volume 10 • Issue 1 • June 2023 ISSN 2050-4365

Gefitinib and methotrexate to resolve tubal ectopic pregnancy: the GEM3 RCT

Catherine A Moakes, Stephen Tong, Lee J Middleton, W Colin Duncan, Ben W Mol, Lucy H R Whitaker, Davor Jurkovic, Arri Coomarasamy, Natalie Nunes, Tom Holland, Fiona Clarke, Lauren C Sutherland, Ann M Doust, Jane P Daniels and Andrew W Horne on behalf of the GEM3 Collaborative Group



DOI 10.3310/NNZF1037

Gefitinib and methotrexate to resolve tubal ectopic pregnancy: the GEM3 RCT

Catherine A Moakeso,¹ Stephen Tongo,² Lee J Middletono,¹ W Colin Duncano,³ Ben W Molo,⁴ Lucy H R Whitakero,³ Davor Jurkovico,⁵ Arri Coomarasamyo,⁶ Natalie Nuneso,⁷ Tom Hollando,⁸ Fiona Clarkeo,⁹ Lauren C Sutherlando,³ Ann M Dousto,³ Jane P Danielso¹⁰ and Andrew W Horneo^{2*} on behalf of the GEM3 Collaborative Group

- ¹Birmingham Clinical Trials Unit, Institute of Applied Health Research, University of Birmingham, UK
- ²Department of Obstetrics and Gynaecology, University of Melbourne, Parkville, Victoria, Australia
- ³MRC Centre for Reproductive Health, Queen's Medical Research Institute, The University of Edinburgh, Edinburgh, UK
- ⁴Department of Obstetrics and Gynaecology, Monash University, Clayton, Victoria, Australia
- ⁵Department of Obstetrics and Gynaecology, University College London NHS Trust, London, UK
- ⁶Tommy's National Centre for Miscarriage Research, University of Birmingham, Birmingham, UK
- ⁷Department of Obstetrics and Gynaecology, West Middlesex University Hospital, Chelsea and Westminster Hospital NHS Foundation Trust, London, UK
- ⁸Department of Obstetrics and Gynaecology, Guys and St Thomas NHS Foundation Trust, London, UK
- ⁹Department of Obstetrics and Gynaecology, Burnley General Hospital, East Lancashire NHS Trust, Burnley, UK
- ¹⁰Nottingham Clinical Trials Unit, University of Nottingham, School of Medicine, Nottingham Health Sciences Partners, Queens Medical Centre, Nottingham, UK

*Corresponding author

Disclosure of interests of authors

Full disclosure of interests: Completed ICMJE forms for all authors, including all related interests, are available in the toolkit on the NIHR Journals Library report publication page at https://doi.org/10.3310/NNZF1037.

Primary conflicts of interest: Andrew W Horne reports grants from NIHR, grants from MRC, grants from Chief Scientist's Office, grants from Wellcome Trust, grants from Wellbeing of Women, grants and personal fees from Ferring, grants from Roche, personal fees from Nordic Pharma, personal fees from Roche Diagnostics, and personal fees from AbbVie, outside the submitted work. Jane P Daniels

is a member of NIHR CTU Standing Advisory Committee, 2016–2023. Arri Coomarasamy is a member of NIHR Efficacy and Evaluation Programme funding committee from January 2019 to present. Ben W Mol is supported by a NHMRC Investigator grant (GNT1176437). Ben W Mol reports consultancy for ObsEva and Merck and travel support from Merck. W Colin Duncan receives honoraria from Merck and Guerbet and research funding from Galvani Biosciences. Lucy H R Whitaker reports grants from NIHR and Roche Diagnostics. None declared by other authors.

Published June 2023 DOI: 10.3310/NNZF1037

This report should be referenced as follows:

Moakes CA, Tong S, Middleton LJ, Duncan WC, Mol BW, Whitaker LHR, *et al.* Gefitinib and methotrexate to resolve tubal ectopic pregnancy: the GEM3 RCT. *Efficacy Mech Eval* 2023;**10**(1). https://doi.org/10.3310/NNZF1037

Efficacy and Mechanism Evaluation

ISSN 2050-4365 (Print)

ISSN 2050-4373 (Online)

Efficacy and Mechanism Evaluation (EME) was launched in 2014 and is indexed by Europe PMC, DOAJ, Ulrichsweb[™] (ProQuest LLC, Ann Arbor, MI, USA) and NCBI Bookshelf.

This journal is a member of and subscribes to the principles of the Committee on Publication Ethics (COPE) (www.publicationethics.org/).

Editorial contact: journals.library@nihr.ac.uk

The full EME archive is freely available to view online at www.journalslibrary.nihr.ac.uk/eme.

Criteria for inclusion in the Efficacy and Mechanism Evaluation journal

Reports are published in *Efficacy and Mechanism Evaluation* (EME) if (1) they have resulted from work for the EME programme, and (2) they are of a sufficiently high scientific quality as assessed by the reviewers and editors.

EME programme

The Efficacy and Mechanism Evaluation (EME) programme funds ambitious studies evaluating interventions that have the potential to make a step-change in the promotion of health, treatment of disease and improvement of rehabilitation or long-term care. Within these studies, EME supports research to improve the understanding of the mechanisms of both diseases and treatments.

The programme supports translational research into a wide range of new or repurposed interventions. These may include diagnostic or prognostic tests and decision-making tools, therapeutics or psychological treatments, medical devices, and public health initiatives delivered in the NHS.

The EME programme supports clinical trials and studies with other robust designs, which test the efficacy of interventions, and which may use clinical or well-validated surrogate outcomes. It only supports studies in man and where there is adequate proof of concept. The programme encourages hypothesis-driven mechanistic studies, integrated within the efficacy study, that explore the mechanisms of action of the intervention or the disease, the cause of differing responses, or improve the understanding of adverse effects. It funds similar mechanistic studies linked to studies funded by any NIHR programme.

The EME programme is funded by the Medical Research Council (MRC) and the National Institute for Health and Care Research (NIHR), with contributions from the Chief Scientist Office (CSO) in Scotland and National Institute for Social Care and Health Research (NISCHR) in Wales and the Health and Social Care Research and Development (HSC R&D), Public Health Agency in Northern Ireland.

This report

The research reported in this issue of the journal was funded by the EME programme as project number 14/150/03. The contractual start date was in April 2016. The final report began editorial review in May 2022 and was accepted for publication in September 2022. The authors have been wholly responsible for all data collection, analysis and interpretation, and for writing up their work. The EME editors and production house have tried to ensure the accuracy of the authors' report and would like to thank the reviewers for their constructive comments on the final report document. However, they do not accept liability for damages or losses arising from material published in this report.

This report presents independent research. The views and opinions expressed by authors in this publication are those of the authors and do not necessarily reflect those of the NHS, the NIHR, the MRC, the EME programme or the Department of Health and Social Care. If there are verbatim quotations included in this publication the views and opinions expressed by the interviewees are those of the interviewees and do not necessarily reflect those of the authors, those of the NHS, the NIHR, the EME programme or the Department of Health and Social Care.

Copyright © 2023 Moakes *et al.* This work was produced by Moakes *et al.* under the terms of a commissioning contract issued by the Secretary of State for Health and Social Care. This is an Open Access publication distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution CC BY 4.0 licence, which permits unrestricted use, distribution, reproduction and adaptation in any medium and for any purpose provided that it is properly attributed. See: https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/. For attribution the title, original author(s), the publication source – NIHR Journals Library, and the DOI of the publication must be cited.

Published by the NIHR Journals Library (www.journalslibrary.nihr.ac.uk), produced by Newgen Digitalworks Pvt Ltd, Chennai, India (www.newgen.co).

NIHR Journals Library Editor-in-Chief

Dr Cat Chatfield Director of Health Services Research UK

NIHR Journals Library Editors

Professor Andrée Le May Chair of NIHR Journals Library Editorial Group (HSDR, PGfAR, PHR journals) and Editorin-Chief of HSDR, PGfAR, PHR journals

Dr Peter Davidson Interim Chair of HTA and EME Editorial Board. Consultant Advisor, School of Healthcare Enterprise and Innovation, University of Southampton, UK

Professor Matthias Beck Professor of Management, Cork University Business School, Department of Management and Marketing, University College Cork, Ireland

Dr Tessa Crilly Director, Crystal Blue Consulting Ltd, UK

Dr Eugenia Cronin Consultant in Public Health, Delta Public Health Consulting Ltd, UK

Ms Tara Lamont Senior Adviser, School of Healthcare Enterprise and Innovation, University of Southampton, UK

Dr Catriona McDaid Reader in Trials, Department of Health Sciences, University of York, UK

Professor William McGuire Professor of Child Health, Hull York Medical School, University of York, UK

Professor Geoffrey Meads Emeritus Professor of Wellbeing Research, University of Winchester, UK

Professor James Raftery Professor of Health Technology Assessment, School of Healthcare Enterprise and Innovation, University of Southampton, UK

Dr Rob Riemsma Consultant Advisor, School of Healthcare Enterprise and Innovation, University of Southampton, UK

Professor Helen Roberts Professor of Child Health Research, Child and Adolescent Mental Health, Palliative Care and Paediatrics Unit, Population Policy and Practice Programme, UCL Great Ormond Street Institute of Child Health, London, UK

Professor Jonathan Ross Professor of Sexual Health and HIV, University Hospital Birmingham, UK

Professor Helen Snooks Professor of Health Services Research, Institute of Life Science, College of Medicine, Swansea University, UK

Please visit the website for a list of editors: www.journalslibrary.nihr.ac.uk/about/editors

Editorial contact: journals.library@nihr.ac.uk

Abstract

Gefitinib and methotrexate to resolve tubal ectopic pregnancy: the GEM3 RCT

Catherine A Moakes[®],¹ Stephen Tong[®],² Lee J Middleton[®],¹ W Colin Duncan[®],³ Ben W Mol[®],⁴ Lucy H R Whitaker[®],³ Davor Jurkovic[®],⁵ Arri Coomarasamy[®],⁶ Natalie Nunes[®],⁷ Tom Holland[®],⁸ Fiona Clarke[®],⁹ Lauren C Sutherland[®],³ Ann M Doust[®],³ Jane P Daniels[®],¹⁰ and Andrew W Horne[®],^{2*} on behalf of the GEM3 Collaborative Group

¹Birmingham Clinical Trials Unit, Institute of Applied Health Research, University of Birmingham, UK

²Department of Obstetrics and Gynaecology, University of Melbourne, Parkville, Victoria, Australia ³MRC Centre for Reproductive Health, Queen's Medical Research Institute, The University of Edinburgh, Edinburgh, UK

⁴Department of Obstetrics and Gynaecology, Monash University, Clayton, Victoria, Australia

⁵Department of Obstetrics and Gynaecology, University College London NHS Trust, London, UK

⁶Tommy's National Centre for Miscarriage Research, University of Birmingham, Birmingham, UK

- ⁷Department of Obstetrics and Gynaecology, West Middlesex University Hospital, Chelsea and Westminster Hospital NHS Foundation Trust, London, UK
- ⁸Department of Obstetrics and Gynaecology, Guys and St Thomas NHS Foundation Trust, London, UK ⁹Department of Obstetrics and Gynaecology, Burnley General Hospital, East Lancashire NHS Trust, Burnley, UK
- ¹⁰Nottingham Clinical Trials Unit, University of Nottingham, School of Medicine, Nottingham Health Sciences Partners, Queens Medical Centre, Nottingham, UK

*Corresponding author Andrew.horne@ed.ac.uk

Background: Tubal ectopic pregnancies can cause significant morbidity or even death. Current treatment is with methotrexate or surgery. However, methotrexate treatment can fail in approximately 30% of women. Gefitinib, an epidermal growth factor receptor inhibitor, may improve the effects of methotrexate. We assessed the efficacy of administering oral gefitinib with methotrexate, versus methotrexate alone, to treat a tubal ectopic pregnancy.

Objectives: To test the hypothesis a combination of gefitinib with methotrexate can increase resolution of stable tubal ectopic pregnancy without the need for surgery, compared with methotrexate alone.

Design: A randomised, double-blind, placebo-controlled, multicentre, superiority trial.

Setting: Fifty UK hospitals.

Participants: A target of 328 women with a stable, tubal ectopic pregnancy.

Intervention: Women were randomised to combination of methotrexate and gefitinib or methotrexate and placebo. All participants received a single intramuscular dose of methotrexate 50 mg/m² and were randomised in a 1:1 ratio of oral gefitinib (250 mg daily for 7 days) or placebo.

Main outcome measures: The primary outcome was surgical intervention for resolution of ectopic pregnancy. Secondary outcomes were the need for an additional dose of methotrexate, time to

resolution of the ectopic pregnancy, number of treatment-associated hospital visits, safety and tolerability, acceptability of treatment and return to menses.

Results: Between 2 November 2016 and 6 October 2021, 328 women were randomly allocated to methotrexate and gefitinib (n = 165) or methotrexate and placebo (n = 163). Three women in the placebo group withdrew. Surgical intervention occurred in 30% (50/165) of the gefitinib group and in 29% (47/160) of the placebo group (adjusted risk ratio 1.15, 95% confidence interval 0.85 to 1.58; adjusted risk difference -0.01, 95% confidence interval -0.10 to 0.09; p = 0.37). Without surgical intervention, median time to resolution was 28.0 days in the gefitinib group and 28.0 days in the placebo group (subdistribution hazard ratio 1.03, 95% confidence interval 0.75 to 1.40). The need for additional methotrexate doses, number of additional hospital visits, participant acceptability, time to return of menses and serious adverse events were similar in both groups. Diarrhoea and rash were more common in the gefitinib group.

Conclusions: The addition of gefitinib to standard medical management with methotrexate to treat tubal ectopic pregnancy is not clinically effective as it does not reduce subsequent surgical intervention and is associated with higher rates of reported symptoms than placebo.

Limitations: We were unable to investigate how different gefitinib doses or modes of delivery would impact on the results.

Future work: Questions that remain unaddressed relate to the use of methotrexate and gefitinib combination treatment for other extrauterine and uterine ectopic pregnancy, such as caesarean scar pregnancies, or in the management of choriocarcinoma.

Trial registration: This trial is registered as ISRCTN 67795930 and EudraCT 2015-005013-76.

Funding: This project was funded by the National Institute for Health and Care Research (NIHR) Efficacy and Mechanism Evaluation (EME) programme and will be published in full in *Efficacy and Mechanistic Evaluation*; Vol. 10, No. 1. The gefitinib and placebo were supplied by Astra Zeneca. See the NIHR Journals Library website for further project information.

Contents

List of tables	xi
List of figures	xiii
List of abbreviations	xv
Plain language summary	xvii
Scientific summary	xix
Chapter 1 Introduction	1
Clinical background	1
Current medical management of ectopic pregnancies with methotrexate	1
Gefitinib as a possible new treatment for ectopic pregnancies	2
Preclinical studies	2
Early phase clinical studies	2
Chapter 2 Methods	5
Trial design	5
Recruitment	5
Eligibility criteria	5
Randomisation method and minimisation variables	6
Interventions	6
Investigational medicinal product information	6
Non-investigational medicinal product information	7
Treatment allocations	7
Blinding	7
Trial appointments	7
Adherence monitoring	7
Co-enrolment	8
Participant withdrawal	8
Outcomes and assessments	8
Primary outcome measures	8
Secondary outcome measures	8
Outcome assessment details	8
Adverse events and serious adverse events	9
Statistical considerations	9
Sample size	9
Statistical analysis	10
Amendments to the project	11
Trial oversight	11
Public and patient involvement	11
Chapter 3 Results of the clinical trial	13
Recruitment	13
Pregnancy	13
Participant characteristics	13
Adherence to treatment	13

Copyright © 2023 Moakes *et al.* This work was produced by Moakes *et al.* under the terms of a commissioning contract issued by the Secretary of State for Health and Social Care. This is an Open Access publication distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution CC BY 4.0 licence, which permits unrestricted use, distribution, reproduction and adaptation in any medium and for any purpose provided that it is properly attributed. See: https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/. For attribution the title, original author(s), the publication source – NIHR Journals Library, and the DOI of the publication must be cited.

CONTENTS

Primary outcome	13
Secondary outcome results	23
Adverse events	23
Chapter 4 Discussion	27
Equality, diversity and inclusion	27
Implications for practice	28
Recommendations for future research	28
Acknowledgements	29
References	33

List of tables

TABLE 1 Schedule of outcome assessments	9
TABLE 2 Details of outcome assessments	9
TABLE 3 Amendment details	12
TABLE 4 Recruitment by centre	15
TABLE 5 Withdrawals in GEM3	16
TABLE 6 Demographic and baseline characteristics of the	participants 16
TABLE 7 Adherence	18
TABLE 8 Analysis of primary outcome	19
TABLE 9 Subgroup analysis of primary outcome	20
TABLE 10 Analysis of secondary outcomes	21
TABLE 11 Summary of reported expected symptoms/com	amon side effects 24
TABLE 12 Adverse events	24
TABLE 13 Details of SAEs	25

List of figures

FIGURE 1 CONSORT diagram	14
FIGURE 2 Tipping point analysis in the placebo group	19
FIGURE 3 Cumulative incidence function plot for time to hCG ≤ 15 IU/I (by treatment group)	23

List of abbreviations

AE	adverse event	IRR	incidence rate ratio
BMI	body mass index	ISRCTN	International Standard
CI	confidence interval		Randomised Controlled Trial Number
CONSORT	Consolidated Standards of Reporting Trials	ITT	intention to treat
DMEC	Data Monitoring and Ethics Committee	MedDRA	Medical Dictionary for Regulatory Activities
EGFR	epidermal growth factor	MTX	methotrexate
	receptor	NHS	National Health Service
EP	ectopic pregnancy	OR	odds ratio
EPT	Ectopic Pregnancy Trust	PI	Principal Investigator
EPU	Early Pregnancy Unit	RD	risk difference
EudraCT	European Clinical Trials	RR	risk ratio
	Database	SAE	serious adverse event
hCG	human chorionic gonadotropin	SAP	Statistical Analysis Plan
HR	hazard ratio	SUSAR	suspected unexpected
ILD	interstitial lung disease		serious adverse
IM	intramuscular		reaction
IMP	investigational medicinal	TSC	Trial Steering Committee
	product	USS	ultrasound scan
IQR	interquartile range		

Copyright © 2023 Moakes *et al.* This work was produced by Moakes *et al.* under the terms of a commissioning contract issued by the Secretary of State for Health and Social Care. This is an Open Access publication distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution CC BY 4.0 licence, which permits unrestricted use, distribution, reproduction and adaptation in any medium and for any purpose provided that it is properly attributed. See: https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/. For attribution the title, original author(s), the publication source – NIHR Journals Library, and the DOI of the publication must be cited.

Plain language summary

What was the question?

A tubal ectopic pregnancy is where a fertilised egg is not growing in the womb. The pregnancy cannot be saved and the woman is at risk of losing her fallopian tube and if this pregnancy is left to grow can even die. Current treatment is with methotrexate or surgery. An operation can happen because either the ectopic pregnancy has ruptured and caused internal bleeding, the medical treatment has not worked and the ectopic pregnancy needs to be removed or the patient can chose to have an operation. However, methotrexate treatment can fail in approximately 30% of women. We carried out research to see if the addition of a new drug (gefitinib, a drug used for lung cancer) to methotrexate could lower the number of women needing an operation to remove their ectopic pregnancy.

What did we do?

We involved 328 women with a stable tubal ectopic pregnancy, who were being treated medically with methotrexate, and randomly assigned them to have methotrexate alone or a combination of methotrexate and gefitinib. The gefitinib was taken in tablet form for 7 days, and the methotrexate was given as an injection. We followed the women up in line with their clinical care until their ectopic pregnancy resolved or they had surgery to remove the ectopic pregnancy.

What did we find?

The addition of gefitinib to methotrexate did not reduce the number of women who required surgery to remove their ectopic pregnancy. More women taking gefitinib experienced side effects, such as a facial rash or diarrhoea.

What does this mean?

Treatment with methotrexate remains the only drug treatment option for ectopic pregnancy. More research is needed.

Scientific summary

Background

Tubal ectopic pregnancy (EP) can cause significant morbidity or even death. Current treatment is with methotrexate (MTX) or surgery. However, MTX treatment can fail in approximately 30% of women. Preclinical studies have shown that tubal implantation sites express high levels of epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR) and that gefitinib (an EGFR antagonist) augments MTX-induced regression of pregnancy-like tissue. Clinical evidence from uncontrolled phase I and II trials has raised the possibility that a combination of MTX and gefitinib could be a more effective medical treatment than MTX alone to treat stable tubal EP.

Objectives

To test the hypothesis, a combination of gefitinib with MTX can increase resolution of stable tubal EP without the need for surgery, compared with MTX alone.

Design

A randomised, double-blind, placebo-controlled, multicentre, superiority trial.

Setting

This trial took place in 50 hospitals in the UK.

Participants

A target of 328 women with a stable, tubal EP.

Intervention

Participants were randomly assigned in a 1:1 ratio to receive either gefitinib and MTX or matched placebo and MTX with the use of minimisation to balance trial-group assignments according to baseline human chorionic gonadotropin levels (<1500 IU/I, \geq 1500 to <2500 IU/I, \geq 2500 IU/I), body mass index (<25 kg/m², \geq 25 kg/m²), ectopic size (<2 cm, \geq 2 cm) and by hospital centre.

Main outcome measures

The primary outcome, analysed by intention to treat, was surgical intervention for removal of the EP. Secondary outcomes included additional MTX doses, time to resolution of EP, number of treatment-associated hospital visits until resolution or scheduled/emergency surgery, safety/tolerability, acceptability of treatment, return to menses, adverse events and serious adverse events.

Results

Between 2 November 2016 and 6 October 2021, 328 women were randomly allocated to MTX and gefitinib (n = 165) or MTX and placebo (n = 163). Three women in the placebo group withdrew. Surgical intervention occurred in 30% (50/165) of the gefitinib group and in 29% (47/160) of the placebo group [adjusted risk ratio 1.15, 95% confidence interval (CI) 0.85 to 1.58; adjusted risk difference –0.01, 95% CI –0.10 to 0.09; p = 0.37]. Without surgical intervention, median time to resolution was 28.0 days in the gefitinib group and 28.0 days in the placebo group (subdistribution hazard ratio 1.03, 95% CI 0.75 to 1.40). The need for additional MTX doses and serious adverse events were similar in both groups. The proportion of women who experienced diarrhoea (75/160 vs. 39/161) and rash (97/159 vs. 36/160) were more common in the MTX and gefitinib group compared with the MTX and placebo group.

Conclusions

In women with a tubal EP, adding oral gefitinib to parental MTX does not offer clinical benefit over MTX alone and increases reported symptoms.

Limitations

We were unable to investigate how different gefitinib doses or modes of delivery would impact on the results.

Future work

Questions that remain unaddressed relate to the use of combination treatment for other extrauterine and uterine EP, such as caesarean scar pregnancies, or in the management of choriocarcinoma.

Trial registration

Current Controlled Trials ISRCTN 67795930 and EudraCT 2015-005013-76.

Funding

This project was funded by the Efficacy and Mechanism Evaluation (EME) programme, a Medical Research Council (MRC) and National Institute for Health and Care Research partnership. Gefitinib and placebo were supplied by Astra Zeneca. This will be published in full in *Efficacy and Mechanistic Evaluation*; Vol. 10, No. 1. See the NIHR Journals Library website for further project information.

Chapter 1 Introduction

Clinical background

Ectopic pregnancies (EPs) occur when the embryo implants outside the endometrial cavity, most commonly in the fallopian tube. It complicates 1–2% of all pregnancies and is a life-threatening emergency because it can cause the tube to rupture, eliciting a catastrophic maternal haemorrhage.¹ EPs are a significant contributor to maternal morbidity and mortality in both the developed and developing world.^{2,3}

Around 98% of EPs occur in a fallopian tube. Risk factors incurring the highest odds of an EP are those associated with pre-existing tubal injury, such as a previous EP, tubal ligation, tubal pathology (often resulting from pelvic infections) and prior tubal surgery.^{4,5} Other risk factors include conception via in vitro fertilisation, smoking and the presence of an intrauterine device in situ.^{4,5}

Because of the emergent nature of an EP, prompt management is required. In most cases, laparoscopic surgery is carried out to remove the pregnancy, ideally before it ruptures. Laparoscopic excision will often involve en bloc removal of the affected fallopian tube. Urgent surgical management is mandated when there are clinical or ultrasound suspicions that the ectopic implantation has ruptured and there is active bleeding. However, if the EP is stable and there is no evidence of bleeding, medical management may be considered (as detailed below).

Laparoscopic excision of EP can be carried out safely. However, there are some rare risks, such as injury to internal viscera during the operation and small risks associated with having a general anaesthetic. Furthermore, there are many regions in the world where surgery is not easily accessed. Hence, there is an important clinical role for effective medical options to treat EP.

Current medical management of ectopic pregnancies with methotrexate

First proposed in 1991,⁶ medical management with a single intramuscular (IM) injection of methotrexate (MTX) is a recognised treatment for women with tubal EP without signs of rupture.⁷

Medical management centres on the use of the chemotherapeutic agent MTX. MTX is a folate antagonist and this induces cell death because folate is a necessary ingredient of DNA synthesis (a substrate for the nucleoside thymidine).⁸ For decades, it has been long recognised that trophoblast tissue is very sensitive to MTX. Since the late 1950s it has been used to treat choriocarcinoma (placental tumours).⁸

The MTX treatment protocol involves an initial IM injection of MTX (50mg/m²), following which serum human chorionic gonadotrophin (hCG) levels (uniquely secreted from gestational tissues) are monitored until it drops to <15 international units/litre (IU/I), which indicates a non-pregnant state.⁹ If the serum hCG is not falling appropriately, a second dose of MTX may be given.

Low-grade evidence on the resolution rate of MTX treatment for EP suggests it is around 70% effective.¹⁰ Treatment failure carries around a 21% risk of requiring a second dose of MTX and the subsequent risk of emergency laparoscopic surgery (where there are inherent risks of damage to visceral organs and an impact on subsequent fertility). In addition, EPs with higher hCG levels (>1000 IU/I) at the start of treatment with MTX, take a significant length of time to resolve and require multiple outpatient monitoring visits. There is a need for more effective medical treatments for tubal EP to reduce the need

for additional MTX, to reduce the need for emergency surgery and to reduce the time to resolution associated with MTX management.

Gefitinib as a possible new treatment for ectopic pregnancies

Over the past decade we have generated preclinical¹¹ evidence, and data from small clinical trials¹²⁻¹⁵ suggesting adding oral gefitinib to IM MTX may improve its effectiveness.¹⁶

Gefitinib is an epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR) inhibitor.^{17,18} It could plausibly disrupt the ectopic implantation site, because placental tissue exhibits very high expression of EGFR and the developing placenta seems critically dependent on this cellular pathway for survival.¹⁹⁻²²

Gefitinib is used to treat non-small cell lung cancer where it is prescribed indefinitely after the primary cancer treatment. In 2004 postmarketing surveillance of 31,045 people exposed to gefitinib was reported to the Food and Drug Administration.²³ Common side effects include skin rash and diarrhoea. Gefitinib is associated with a rare but concerning side effect of interstitial lung disease (ILD) (0.3% incidence). However, it is possible that developing gefitinib-related ILD mainly happens when there is coexisting lung cancer. Also, the median time to developing related ILD is 42 days and major risk factors include being older than 55 and male sex.²³ Offering it to women who are younger (and unlikely to have lung cancer) and limiting the dose to 7 days would avoid all these risk factors. A short course of the drug is therefore likely to be very safe as a treatment option.

Preclinical studies

In preclinical experiments, we found combining MTX and gefitinib appeared to be significantly more potent in inducing placental cell death in vitro compared to treatment using either drug alone.¹¹ Combining them induced a more potent blockade of EGFR signalling, and more apoptosis compared to either drug on its own. Compared to MTX alone, adding gefitinib to MTX induced significantly greater shrinkage in the volume of tumours comprising immortalised placental cells (JEG3-placental cell line) grafted subcutaneously on immunocompromised (NOD/SCID) mice.¹¹ Hence our preclinical data identified the possibility that combining gefitinib with MTX may be a promising treatment for EP.

Early phase clinical studies

We also reported a phase I single arm, open label study of 12 participants diagnosed with EP and a pretreatment serum hCG of <3000 IU/I.¹² Participants were administered MTX and 250 mg of oral daily gefitinib in a dose escalation protocol: one dose for the first three participants, three doses for the second three participants, seven doses for the last six. Treatment appeared safe with no clinical or biochemical evidence of serious toxicity.

The trial also produced early efficacy data that was encouraging. Median serum hCG levels by day 7 after treatment among our study participants were less than one-fifth of the levels observed among 71 historic controls who had been treated with just MTX. The median time for the EP to resolve among our participants treated with MTX and gefitinib was 34% shorter compared to MTX alone (21 days compared with 32 days).¹²

We subsequently reported a case series of eight women with extra-tubal EP treated with 7 days of oral gefitinib and IM MTX.¹³ Five were interstitial (cornual) EP and three were caesarean section scar EP. Pretreatment serum hCG levels ranged between 2458 and 48,550 IU/I and six women had pretreatment hCG levels > 5000 IU/I. For all eight cases, their extra-tubal EP resolved without need for surgery. Furthermore, a case report has been published of a woman with an interstitial EP and contraindications to surgery. Treated with gefitinib and MTX, her EP resolved without the need for surgery.¹⁵

We have also reported a phase II single arm trial, administering combination gefitinib and MTX to 28 women with stable EP of larger size, defined as a pretreatment serum hCG between 1000 and 10,000 IU/I.^{14,24} With this treatment, 24 of the 28 participants had their EP resolve without requiring surgery. This met our a priori statistical analysis cut off, which allowed us to conclude that the efficacy of gefitinib and MTX to treat EP is 70% or more.¹⁴

Collectively, our preclinical studies and our early phase trials suggested combining gefitinib and MTX showed promise as a new medical treatment to treat EP. However, this needed to be demonstrated in a large randomised, placebo-controlled trial.

In the 'Gefitinib for Ectopic pregnancy Management' (GEM3) study, which is detailed in this monograph, we evaluated the efficacy and safety of combining MTX and gefitinib to treat tubal EP, compared with MTX alone.

Chapter 2 Methods

Parts of this chapter have been reproduced with permission from May *et al.*²⁵ This is an Open Access article distributed in accordance with the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution (CC BY 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt and build upon this work, for commercial use, provided the original work is properly cited. See: https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/. The text includes minor additions and formatting changes to the original text.

Trial design

The GEM3 trial was a placebo-controlled randomised, blinded, multicentre trial of a combination of MTX and gefitinib versus MTX and placebo as a treatment for EP. The trial had a favourable ethical opinion from Scotland A Research Ethics Committee (ref: 16/SS/0014).

Recruitment

GEM3 participants were recruited from early pregnancy units (EPU) in 50 of the 74 National Health Service (NHS) participating sites across the UK. Firstly, potential participants were referred to the local research teams by their attending clinician with their permission. All referred women were then approached by researchers who were trained in Good Clinical Practice and specifically in taking consent for this trial. Potential participants were provided with a Participant Information Sheet and given time to consider their involvement. All patients were told that participation in the trial was completely voluntary and that once recruited they could withdraw at any stage in the trial. Reassurance was given that participation or withdrawal would not affect their normal clinical care. If patients expressed an interest, written informed consent was sought and they were assessed for eligibility.

Eligibility criteria

Participants were assessed for eligibility by an appropriately trained doctor. The participants needed to meet the following criteria:

- women aged between 18 and 50 years;
- clinical decision made for treatment of tubal EP with MTX;
- able to understand all information (written and oral) presented (using an interpreter if necessary) and provide signed consent;
- diagnosis of either:
 - definite tubal EP [extrauterine gestational sac with yolk sac and/or embryo, without cardiac activity on ultrasound scan (USS)];
 - clinical decision of probable tubal EP [extrauterine sac-like structure of inhomogenous adnexal mass on USS with a background of suboptimal serum hCG concentrations (on at least 2 different days)];
- pretreatment serum hCG level of 1000–5000 IU/I (within 1 calendar day of treatment);
- clinically stable;
- haemoglobin between 100 and 165 g/l within 1 calendar day of treatment;

- able to comply with treatment and willing to participate in follow up. Participants could not be included if any of the following criteria were applicable:
 - pregnancy of unknown location;
 - evidence of intrauterine pregnancy;
 - breastfeeding;
 - hypersensitivity to gefitinib;
 - EP mass on USS greater than 3.5 cm (mean dimensions);
 - evidence of significant intra-abdominal bleed on USS, defined by echogenic free fluid above the uterine fundus or surrounding one ovary within 1 calendar day;
 - significant abdominal pain, guarding/rigidity;
 - clinically significant abnormal liver/renal/haematological indices within 3 calendar days of treatment;
 - galactose intolerance;
 - significant dermatological disease, for example, severe psoriasis/eczema;
 - significant pulmonary disease, for example, severe/uncontrolled asthma;
 - significant gastrointestinal illness, for example, Crohn's disease/ulcerative colitis;
 - participating in any other clinical trial of an investigational medicinal product (IMP);
 - previous participation in GEM3;
 - Japanese ethnicity, due to higher risk of ILD from use of gefitinib in this population.

Randomisation method and minimisation variables

Once final eligibility was confirmed and consent obtained, participants were randomised to GEM3 by the research staff at sites using a secure online randomisation service provided by the Birmingham Clinical Trials Unit. Participants were randomised in an equal (1:1) ratio to gefitinib or placebo and a bottle number was allocated. The bottle number was sent via email to the local Principal Investigator (PI), the trial pharmacist and the research nurse performing the randomisation. A 'minimisation' procedure, incorporating a random element, using a computer-based algorithm, was used to avoid chance imbalances in important prognostic variables. Strata used in the minimisation were as follows:

- baseline hCG levels (<1500 IU/I, ≥1500 to 2500 IU/I, ≥2500 IU/I);
- body mass index (BMI) (<25 kg/m², ≥25 kg/m²);
- ectopic mass size (<2 cm, ≥2 cm);
- recruiting centre.

Interventions

Investigational medicinal product information

The IMP was gefitinib, as a tablet. Each tablet contained gefitinib 250 mg.

The placebo was lactose powder, in the same format as the IMP to be identical in colour, shape and weight. The treatment regime was exactly the same as in the gefitinib group.

Interventions were supplied by Astra Zeneca and packaged and distributed by Sharp Clinical Services, UK. These companies had no role in the design, conduct, analysis or reporting of the trial.

A clinical trial pharmacist prepared the trial treatment bottle for dispensing. Each trial treatment bottle contained seven tablets. Bottles were then dispensed at the baseline visit. The labels on the bottle instructed participants to take one tablet each day for 7 days as directed, at the same time each day

and they had to be taken orally with a drink of water. A drug instruction card was also given to each participant with the following instructions:

- Tablets should be taken orally with a glass of water.
- You take ONE tablet ONCE a day at around the same time for 7 days.
- First dose will be on the same day you have your MTX injection.
- Avoid taking antacid medicines 2 hours before taking the tablet and for 1 hour afterwards.
- If you take **TOO MANY** tablets by accident, let the trial team know straight away.
- If you **FORGET** to take a tablet, if you are **less than 12 hours late** take the missed tablet as soon as you remember and take the next one at the usual time.
- If you are more than 12 hours late skip the forgotten tablet and take the next one at the usual time.
- If you vomit then just take your next dose as planned. Do not take an extra tablet that day.
- Don't take a double dose to make up for the forgotten dose.
- If in doubt then please contact the research team.

Non-investigational medicinal product information

The non-IMP was MTX as an IM injection. The dose was 50 mg/m^2 calculated according to the participant's body surface area. Women were given one injection of MTX on the day of randomisation. It was anticipated that some women would require a second dose of MTX as per clinical requirement. The MTX was taken from clinical stock.

Treatment allocations

Participants were commenced on the trial intervention on the day they were randomised. They commenced on one tablet of 250 mg gefitinib or matched placebo each day for 7 days (or until resolution of EP if this occurred prior to 7 days).

Blinding

Participants, investigators, research nurses and other attending clinicians all remained blind to the trial drug allocation for the duration of their participation.

In case of any serious adverse event (SAE), the general recommendation was to initiate management and care of the participant as though the woman was taking gefitinib. Cases that were considered serious, unexpected and possibly, probably or definitely related to the trial intervention [suspected unexpected serious adverse reaction (SUSAR)], were unblinded as appropriate, if deemed necessary. In any other circumstances, participants, investigators and research nurses and midwives remained blind to drug allocation whilst the participant remained in the trial.

The trial statisticians were unblinded to the trial drug allocation following approval of the Statistical Analysis Plan (SAP) and after the database had been locked for analysis.

Trial appointments

Trial participants attended routine clinical care appointments as per their local Trust policy for the treatment of an EP. Most EPUs advised review on day 4, 7 and then weekly post randomisation. At each visit, adverse events (AEs), symptoms, extra visits to hospital, further doses of MTX and need for surgery were captured and recorded on the database.

Adherence monitoring

Adherence to treatment was assessed by both participant's self-reported account of total number of tablets taken and clinician reported data on whether the MTX injection was given. We predefined adherence as participants who received their initial MTX injection and at least 75% of their allocated treatment (gefitinib or placebo) prior to resolution (up to a maximum of 7 daily doses if resolution had not occurred by 7 days post randomisation). Women who were considered adherent as per this definition comprised the per-protocol cohort.

Co-enrolment

Participants were not permitted to participate in other IMP trials but were permitted to take part in non-IMP (e.g. questionnaire/tissue collection) studies.

Participant withdrawal

A participant was considered for withdrawal from the trial treatment if, in the opinion of the investigator or the care providing clinician or clinical team, it was medically necessary to do so. Participants could also voluntarily withdraw from treatment at any time, however, women were encouraged to continue follow-up following withdrawal from trial treatment to minimise attrition bias.

Participants could voluntarily withdraw their consent to study participation at any time. If a participant did not return for a scheduled visit, attempts were made to contact her and where possible, review adherence and safety data. Reasons for withdrawal were captured where possible. If a participant explicitly withdrew consent to have any further data recorded their decision was respected and recorded on the electronic data capture system. All communication surrounding the withdrawal was noted in the patient's medical notes and no further data collected for that participant.

Outcomes and assessments

Primary outcome measures

The primary outcome measure was surgical intervention for the treatment of EP (salpingectomy or salpingostomy by laparoscopy or laparotomy).

Secondary outcome measures

Secondary outcomes were as follows:

- need for further treatment with MTX;
- number of days to resolution of pregnancy (hCG ≤ 15 IU/I);
- number of hospital visits associated with treatment;
- patient satisfaction measured by a Likert scale;
- return to menses (assessed 3 months after resolution of EP);
- safety/tolerability (AEs).

Outcome assessment details

The schedule for outcome assessment is given in *Table 1*. Details of how outcomes were generated are given in *Table 2*.

TABLE 1 Schedule of outcome assessments

	Day of treatment	Standard clinical care visits	Day 14–21 (during scheduled clinical care visits)	Month 3
Consent	1	\checkmark	✓	1
Clinical assessment	1	\checkmark	✓	
Serum hCG	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	
Full blood count, urea and electro- lytes, liver function tests	1		1	
AEs		\checkmark	\checkmark	
Adherence		1		
Return to menses and acceptability	_			1

TABLE 2 Details of outcome assessments

Outcome assessed	Timepoint	Method	Reported by
Serum hCG	Clinical care visits	Routine clinical blood sample	NHS laboratory results
Full blood count, urea and electrolytes, liver function tests	Clinical care visits	Routine clinical blood sample	NHS laboratory results
AEs	Clinical care visits	Clinical assessment of participant at follow-up visit and medical records	Research nurse/doctor
Adherence	Clinical care visits	Clinical assessment of participant at follow-up visit	Study participant reported
Return to menses and acceptability	3 months postreso- lution of EP	Paper case report form	Study participant and research nurse/doctor

Relevant trial data was transcribed directly onto a secure web-based database. All personal information was treated as strictly confidential. Source data comprised of the case report forms, questionnaires and hospital notes. Women were encouraged to report AEs occurring between clinic visits or presenting at non-participating hospitals to the research nurse. Self-reports were verified against clinical notes. There were validation methods built into this system to ensure data consistency and quality.

Adverse events and serious adverse events

All AEs, from consent until resolution of EP (hCG \leq 15 IU/I or surgical intervention), whether observed directly or reported by the patient, were collected and recorded. Common known side effects of gefitinib were not reported as AEs (unless they met the definition of seriousness) but were captured directly onto the database at each visit. These common side effects were abdominal pain, diarrhoea, nausea, vomiting, rash, fatigue, dizziness and mouth ulcers. Trial participants were asked about the occurrence of AEs and SAEs at each study visit. All SAEs were emailed or faxed to the sponsor's office within 24 hours of the research staff becoming aware of the event and onward reported to Astra Zeneca. The local PI (or other nominated clinician) had to assign seriousness, severity, causality and expectedness (if deemed related) to the SAE before reporting. SAEs categorised by the local investigator as both suspected to be related to the trial drug and unexpected were classified as SUSARs, and were subject to expedited reporting. In the case of any SAEs, management and care of the women was initiated as though the woman was taking gefitinib. All AEs and SAEs have been MedDRA coded (version 24.1) for consistency of reporting.

Statistical considerations

Sample size

The sample size was based on data taken from the GEM2 phase II study,¹⁴ published cohort data¹³ and an unpublished audit of women undergoing usual care at two participating sites (2012). These data suggested 30% of women would require surgical intervention in the MTX only group, with a halving of this proportion plausible in the gefitinib and MTX group (a 50% relative reduction). A sample size of 322 participants was required to provide 90% power with an alpha error rate of 5% to detect this size of difference. We planned to include 328 participants in the trial to account for up to 2% attrition.

Statistical analysis

A comprehensive SAP was drawn up prior to any analysis. In brief, categorical data were summarised with frequencies and percentages. Continuous variables were summarised with means and standard deviations unless there was evidence of skew, where medians and interquartile ranges (IQR) were presented. In the first instance, participants were analysed in the treatment group to which they were randomised [intention to treat (ITT)], irrespective of adherence with the treatment protocol. All estimates of differences between groups were presented with 95%, two-sided confidence intervals (CIs), adjusted for the minimisation variables (where possible).

The primary outcome was analysed using a mixed-effects log-binomial model to generate an adjusted risk ratio (RR) and an adjusted risk difference (RD) (using an identity link function), including centre as a random effect. Statistical significance of the treatment group parameter was determined (*p*-value generated) through examination of the associated chi-squared statistic (obtained from the log-binomial model, which produced the RR).

Binary secondary outcomes were analysed as per the primary outcome. Time to hCG resolution was considered in a competing risk framework to account for participants who had surgical intervention for their EP.²⁶ A cumulative incidence function was used to estimate the probability of occurrence (hCG resolution) over time. A Fine-Gray model was then used to estimate a subdistribution adjusted hazard ratio (HR) directly from the cumulative incidence function. In addition, a further Cox proportional hazard model was fitted and applied to the cause-specific (non-surgical resolution) hazard function and used to generate an adjusted HR.²⁷ Return to menses was analysed using a Cox regression model. Number of hospital visits associated with treatment was analysed using a Poisson regression model, including centre as a random effect to generate an adjusted incidence rate ratio (IRR). Acceptability of treatment was analysed using an ordinal logistic regression model, including centre as a random effect to generate an adjusted regression model, including centre as a random effect to generate an adjusted incidence rate ratio (IRR). Acceptability of treatment was analysed using an ordinal logistic regression model, including centre as a random effect to generate an adjusted incidence rate ratio (IRR). Acceptability of treatment was analysed using an ordinal logistic regression model, including centre as a random effect to generate an adjusted incidence rate ratio (IRR).

Sensitivity and supportive analyses of the primary outcome included a per-protocol analysis, an analysis that excluded any women found to violate the inclusion/exclusion criteria post randomisation and an analysis to investigate the small amount of missing primary outcome data by means of a 'tipping point' approach, which explored the possibility that missing responses were 'missing not at random'. Unadjusted models were utilised. Firstly all women with missing outcome data were considered as having not met the primary outcome (i.e. surgical intervention was no). Two scenarios were then considered. In the first scenario, in women who had missing data in the gefitinib group, 'events' (i.e. surgical intervention was changed from no to yes) were sequentially added to this group until the number of events added was equal to the number of women with missing outcome data in that group. With the addition of each event, an unadjusted model was run and the RR stored. The tipping point for the gefitinib group occurred when enough events have been added such that the upper/lower limit of the CI from the corresponding model differed from that of the primary ITT finding (in regards to whether the CI crossed the null value of one), should the tipping point exist. A second scenario was then considered, which repeated this process in the placebo group. A sensitivity analysis for time to hCG resolution was also conducted where the threshold for resolution was considered as 30 IU/I.

Preplanned subgroup analyses (limited to the primary outcome measure only) were completed for the following: baseline serum hCG levels (<1500 IU/I, \geq 1500 to <2500 IU/I, \geq 2500 IU/I), BMI (<25 kg/m², \geq 25 kg/m²) and ectopic size on ultrasound (<2 cm, or \geq 2 cm). The effects of these subgroups were examined by adding the subgroup by treatment group interaction parameters to the regression model. *p*-values from the tests for statistical heterogeneity were presented alongside the effect estimate and estimates of uncertainty within each subgroup. In addition to this, ratios were provided to quantify the difference between the treatment effects estimated within each subgroup.

Interim analyses of effectiveness and safety end points were performed on behalf of the Data Monitoring and Ethics Committee (DMEC) on an approximately annual basis during the period of recruitment. These analyses were performed with the use of the Haybittle–Peto principle²⁸ and hence no adjustment was made in the final *p*-values to determine significance.

All analyses were performed in SAS[®] (version 9.4 SAS Institute Inc., Cary, North Carolina 27513, USA) or Stata[®] (version 17.0 StataCorp LP, College Station, TX, USA).

Amendments to the project

During the course of the trial we submitted 22 substantial amendments and six non-substantial amendments. Please see details in *Table 3*.

Trial oversight

Study oversight was provided by a Trial Steering Committee (TSC), chaired by Professor Ying Cheong (University of Southampton) and a DMEC, chaired by Professor Usha Menon (University College London). The TSC provided independent supervision for the trial, providing advice to the Chief and Co-Investigators on all aspects of the trial throughout the study. The DMEC adopted the DAMOCLES charter²⁹ to define its terms of reference and operation in relation to oversight of the GEM3 trial.

Public and patient involvement

We have been supported throughout the trial by the Ectopic Pregnancy Trust (EPT) and, in particular, its chair. Public and patient involvement was crucial in improving the acceptability of the GEM3 trial and promoting engagement of gynaecologists. We engaged with EPT throughout, improving our understanding of the needs of patients with EP. Members of the EPT commented on all patient-facing materials to ensure that they were clear and comprehensive. We organised three research site team training days during the course of the trial and EPT patient representatives spoke at each of these meetings (e.g. on how best to counsel participants when approaching them about the trial). We will engage with the EPT regarding the dissemination of our results, providing a plain English summary of the findings. This will be distributed via the EPT's website and on their social media channels. Any future research groups taking forward the research recommendations from this project would benefit from engaging with the EPT.

METHODS

TABLE 3 Amendment details

Number and ethics date	Amendment type	Summary of changes made
01_3 March 2016	Following ethical review	Changes as per feedback from ethics
02_8 March 2016	Non-substantial	Questionnaire v3_typos corrected Protocol, timescales clarified, unblinding, randomisation process detailed, minor clarifications to inclusion/exclusion as per clinician's feedback
03_10 October 2016	Non-substantial	Correction of typo on page 19, Japanese ethnicity added for consistency
04_15 January 2019	Non-substantial	Extension to recruitment period
05_31 January 2020	Non-substantial	Extension to recruitment period
06_4 June 2021	Non-substantial	Change of PI at Addenbrookes
01_1 September 2016	Substantial protocol v5	Clarification of terms following co-investigators, TSC and DMC meetings
02_6 October 2016	Substantial	Addition of sites
03_1 December 2016	Substantial	Addition of sites
04_12 April 2017	Substantial protocol v6	Clarification of processes. Update of SmPC. Update TSC change of Chair and DMC change of statisti- cian. Update contact details of trial team
05_12 May 2017	Substantial	Change of PI and addition of sites
06_16 June 2017	Substantial	Change of PI
07_5 October 2017	Substantial	Addition of sites, update of contact details
08_30 October 2017	Substantial	Addition of sites
09_1 December 2017	Substantial	Addition of sites
10_17 April 2018	Substantial protocol v7	Change to SmPC gefitinib Change in contact details, TMG and TSC members and change in statistician Clarification of terms
11_17 April 2018	Substantial	Addition of sites Change of PI at South Tees and Aberdeen
12_26 June 2018	Substantial	Addition of site
13_29 August 2018	Substantial	Addition of sites
14_3 January 2019	Substantial	Addition of sites
15_27 February 2019	Substantial	Addition of sites
16_2 April 2019	Substantial	Addition of sites
17_26 July 2019	Substantial protocol v8	Change of address for Sharp Clinical UK Removal of mechanistic study Addition of information re long-term follow up Change in staff information Addition of data management section 9
18_18 October 2019	Substantial	Addition of site Change of Pls
19_9 March 2020	Substantial	Addition of sites Change of Pls
20_6 July 2020	Substantial	Change of PIs
21_11 February 2021	Substantial	Change of PIs
22_19 February 2021	Substantial protocol v9	Change to SmPC – gefitinib and methotrexate Minor changes to analysis section for clarification Minor administrative changes for clarification

Chapter 3 Results of the clinical trial

his chapter reports the results of the randomised controlled trial.

Recruitment

Screening of participants commenced on 2 November 2016 and the last woman was randomised on 6 October 2021 (*Figure* 1). Recruitment was paused during the COVID-19 pandemic from 20 March 2020 until 2 June 2020 but otherwise the pandemic had limited impact on the trial process and data collection. Three hundred twenty-eight women were recruited from 50 sites, the contribution from each site can be seen in *Table* 4. The complete flow of participants through the GEM3 trial is shown in *Figure* 1. Initially, 699 were considered for participation, of which, 540 women were considered eligible. Of these women, 328 women were randomised, 212 were not randomised for various reasons (details in *Figure* 1). A total of 165 participants were assigned to gefitinib and 163 to placebo. Three women withdrew from GEM3 and there were no deaths. Reasons for trial withdrawal are provided in *Table* 5.

Pregnancy

Two participants were found to have intrauterine pregnancies following randomisation to the trial. These pregnancies were found to be unviable. These participants were withdrawn from the trial.

Participant characteristics

At enrolment, baseline characteristics were well balanced between groups (*Table 6*). The mean age was 31.7 years (SD 5.5 years), mean BMI was 26.8 kg/m^2 (SD 6.1 kg/m^2), the median pretreatment hCG levels were 1994.0 (IQR 1487.0–2819.0), and 25% had a starting ectopic size $\ge 2 \text{ cm}$ measured on USS.

Adherence to treatment

Nearly all women received their initial MTX injection (99%), of the three women who did not receive their initial injection reasons can be seen in *Table 7*. The median number of tablets taken was 7.0 (IQR 7.0–7.0) in both groups. One hundred fifty-five of 165 (94%) women in the gefitinib group were considered adherent, in comparison to 152 of 162 (94%) women in the placebo group.

Primary outcome

For the primary ITT analysis, there was no evidence of a difference in the primary outcome. The surgical intervention rate in the gefitinib group was 30% (50/165) and 29% (47/160) in the placebo arm (adjusted RR 1.15, 95% CI 0.85 to 1.58; adjusted RD -0.01, 95% CI -0.10 to 0.09; p = 0.37) (*Table 8*).

Sensitivity and supportive analyses had minimal impact on effect estimates as described below. In the per-protocol analysis of the primary outcome comparison, including only the 306 women defined as adherent who had primary outcome data available, the effect estimates changed only marginally. Similarly, when the analysis population was limited to women who were not found to violate the inclusion/exclusion criteria (post randomisation), the point estimates and CIs were almost identical to the ITT analysis. Finally, the sensitivity analyses to assess the impact of missing data using a 'tipping



FIGURE 1 CONSORT diagram.

point' approach (as summarised in *Figure 2*) support the conclusion that our primary outcome analysis was robust to the small amount of missing data. A tipping point analysis was not conducted in the gefitinib group since there were no missing primary outcome data in this group.
TABLE 4 Recruitment by centre

Recruiting hospital	All participants – no. (%) (N = 328)
University College Hospital	35 (11)
West Middlesex University Hospital	33 (10)
St Thomas' Hospital	28 (9)
Burnley General Hospital	27 (8)
Royal Infirmary of Edinburgh	20 (6)
Glasgow Royal Infirmary	13 (4)
Addenbrooke's Hospital	11 (3)
King's College Hospital (Denmark Hill)	11 (3)
Darent Valley Hospital	11 (3)
University Hospital Coventry (Walsgrave)	10 (3)
Queens Hospital, Romford	10 (3)
St Peters Hospital	10 (3)
Birmingham Heartlands Hospital	8 (2)
Frimley Park Hospital	7 (2)
Stoke Mandeville Hospital	7 (2)
Ninewells Hospital	6 (2)
Manchester Royal Infirmary	5 (2)
Forth Valley Royal Hospital	5 (2)
The James Cook University Hospital	4 (1)
Chesterfield Royal Hospital	4 (1)
Royal Hampshire County Hospital	4 (1)
Queens Medical Centre	4 (1)
St Michael's Hospital	3 (1)
Basildon Hospital	3 (1)
Sheffield Teaching Hospitals	3 (1)
Hinchingbrooke Hospital	3 (1)
Peterborough City Hospital	3 (1)
East Surrey Hospital	3 (1)
Victoria Hospital	3 (1)
University Hospital of North Durham	3 (1)
St Helier Hospital	3 (1)
Gloucestershire Royal Hospital	2 (1)
Worcestershire Royal Hospital	2 (1)
Queen Charlotte's & Chelsea Hospital	2 (1)
Norfolk & Norwich University Hospital	2 (1)
Crosshouse Hospital	2 (1)

continued

TABLE 4 Recruitment by centre (continued)

Tameside General Hospital2 (1)Queens Hospital, Burton2 (1)Princess Alexandra Hospital2 (1)Sunderland Royal Hospital2 (1)Homerton University Hospital1 (<1)West Suffolk Hospital1 (<1)Royal Stoke University Hospital1 (<1)Scunthorpe General Hospital1 (<1)Warrington Hospital1 (<1)Wishaw General Hospital1 (<1)Aberdeen Royal Infirmary1 (<1)Birmingham Women's Hospital1 (<1)Lisithtee Hospital1 (<1)	Recruiting hospital	All participants – no. (%) (N = 328)
Princess Alexandra Hospital2 (1)Sunderland Royal Hospital2 (1)Homerton University Hospital1 (<1)	Tameside General Hospital	2 (1)
Sunderland Royal Hospital2 (1)Homerton University Hospital1 (<1)	Queens Hospital, Burton	2 (1)
Homerton University Hospital1 (<1)West Suffolk Hospital1 (<1)	Princess Alexandra Hospital	2 (1)
West Suffolk Hospital1 (<1)Royal Stoke University Hospital1 (<1)	Sunderland Royal Hospital	2 (1)
Royal Stoke University Hospital1 (<1)Scunthorpe General Hospital1 (<1)	Homerton University Hospital	1 (<1)
Scunthorpe General Hospital1 (<1)Warrington Hospital1 (<1)	West Suffolk Hospital	1 (<1)
Warrington Hospital1 (<1)Wishaw General Hospital1 (<1)	Royal Stoke University Hospital	1 (<1)
Wishaw General Hospital1 (<1)Aberdeen Royal Infirmary1 (<1)	Scunthorpe General Hospital	1 (<1)
Aberdeen Royal Infirmary1 (<1)Birmingham Women's Hospital1 (<1)	Warrington Hospital	1 (<1)
Birmingham Women's Hospital 1 (<1)	Wishaw General Hospital	1 (<1)
	Aberdeen Royal Infirmary	1 (<1)
	Birmingham Women's Hospital	1 (<1)
Leighton Hospitai 1 (<1)	Leighton Hospital	1 (<1)
Poole General Hospital 1 (<1)	Poole General Hospital	1 (<1)

Note

Seventy-four centres were open to recruitment but 24 did not randomise any participants to GEM3.

TABLE 5 Withdrawals in GEM3

	MTX and gefitinib (N = 165)	MTX and placebo (N = 163)
Withdrawalsª – no. (%)	O (-)	3 (2)
Reason for withdrawal – no.		
Intrauterine pregnancy detected	-	2
No consent obtained	-	1
a Mithdrawn concept for any further falls	we up from the point of with drowel	

a Withdrawn consent for any further follow up from the point of withdrawal.

TABLE 6 Demographic and baseline characteristics of the participants

Participant characteristics	MTX and gefitinib (N = 165)	MTX and placebo (N = 162)
hCG level (IU/I) [♭] – no. (%)		
<1500	44 (27)	40 (25)
≥1500 to <2500	64 (39)	65 (40)
≥2500	57 (34)	57 (35)
Median (IQR, N)	1972 (1457–2820, 165)	2023 (1523–2809, 162)
BMI (kg/m²) ^b – no. (%)		
<25	79 (48)	78 (48)
≥25	86 (52)	84 (52)
		continued

TABLE 6 Demographic and baseline characteristics of the participants (continued)

Participant characteristics	MTX and gefitinib (N = 165)	MTX and placebo (N = 162)
Mean (SD, N)	26.7 (5.9, 165)	26.9 (6.3, 162)
Ectopic size (cm) ^b – no. (%)		
<2	121 (73)	124 (77)
≥2	44 (27)	38 (23)
Woman's age (years)		
Mean (SD, N)	31.7 (5.6, 165)	31.7 (5.3, 162)
Minimum-maximum	18.3-45.5	19.0-48.1
Per vaginum (PV) bleeding – no. (%)		
No PV loss	57 (34)	77 (48)
Light bleeding	89 (54)	73 (45)
Moderate bleeding	17 (10)	10 (6)
Heavy bleeding	1 (1)	2 (1)
Clots or flooding	1 (1)	O (-)
Ethnicity – no. (%)		
White	122 (74)	126 (78)
Asian	19 (12)	19 (12)
Chinese	1 (1)	3 (2)
Black	12 (7)	9 (6)
Mixed	10 (6)	2 (1)
Other ^c	O (-)	2 (1)
Missing	1	0
Smoking status – no. (%)		
Current smoker	38 (24)	36 (23)
Ex-smoker	27 (17)	32 (21)
Never smoked	95 (59)	86 (56)
Missing/unknown	5	8
Previous Chlamydia infection – no. (%)	25 (17)	21 (15)
Missing/unknown	21	21
Number of presumed patent tubes – no. (%)		
0	O (-)	1 (1)
1	24 (15)	24 (15)
2	140 (85)	137 (85)
Missing	1	0
Nulliparous – no. (%)	91 (55)	85 (52)
Missing	1	0

Participant characteristics	MTX and gefitinib (N = 165)	MTX and placebo (N = 162)
Number of previous presumed EPs/pregnancies of unk	nown location – no. (%)	
0	138 (84)	133 (82)
1	22 (13)	21 (13)
2	3 (2)	7 (4)
≥3	1 (1)	1 (1)
Missing	1	0
Current IVF pregnancy – no. (%)	5 (3)	2 (1)
Missing/unknown	1	1
USS finding – no. (%)		
Inhomogenous mass	82 (50)	75 (46)
Extrauterine sac like structure	47 (28)	48 (30)
Extrauterine gestation sac with yolk sac	31 (19)	33 (20)
Extrauterine gestation sac with embryo/foetal pole	5 (3)	6 (4)

TABLE 6 Demographic and baseline characteristics of the participants (continued)

IVF, in vitro fertilisation; N, number of observations; SD, standard deviation.

a Excluding the woman who did not provide consent.

b Minimisation variable.

c Other includes mixed white/Asian and Latina.

TABLE 7 Adherence

	MTX and gefitinib (N = 165)	MTX and placebo (N = 162)
Initial MTX injection received – no. (%)		
Yes	163 (99)	161 (99)
No	2 (1)	1 (1)
Reason initial MTX injection not given – no.		
Woman ruptured and required surgery before MTX could be given	1	0
Woman was found to be ineligible post- randomisation ^b (MTX not required)	1	0
Woman was found to be ineligible post- randomisation ^c (surgery required)	0	1
Number of tablets received		
Median (IQR, N)	7.0 (7.0-7.0, 165)	7.0 (7.0–7.0, 162)
Minimum-maximum	0-7.0	0-7.0
Adherent – no. (%)		
Yes	155 (94)	152 (94)
No	10 (6)	10 (6)

N, number of observations.

a Excluding the woman who did not provide consent.

b Woman was randomised with a hCG < 1000 IU/I.

c Woman was randomised with a hCG > 5000 IU/I and required immediate surgery post-randomisation.

TABLE 8 Analysis of primary outcome

	MTX and gefitinib	MTX and placebo	RR (95% CI)	RD (95% CI)
Surgical intervention ^c -	- n/N (%)			
ITT analysis	50/165 (30)	47/160 (29)	1.15 (0.85 to 1.58)	-0.01 (-0.10 to 0.09)
Per-protocol analysis ^d	48/155 (31)	45/151 (30)	1.05 (0.67 to 1.64)	0.00 (-0.10 to 0.10)
Eligible population ^e	50/164 (30)	46/159 (29)	1.17 (0.86 to 1.60)	0.00 (-0.10 to 0.10)

a Adjusted for the minimisation parameters: hCG level, BMI, ectopic size and centre. Values < 1 favour MTX and gefitinib. b Adjusted for the minimisation parameters: hCG level, BMI and ectopic size (centre removed from the model due to

convergence issues). Values < 0 favour MTX and gefitinib.

c Salpingectomy or salpingostomy.

d Sensitivity analysis: the per-protocol cohort includes only those women adherent with treatment allocation with available outcome data (MTX and gefitinib N = 155, MTX and placebo = 151).

e Sensitivity analysis: the eligible population analysis excludes three women who were found to violate the inclusion/ exclusion criteria (post-randomisation). One woman in the MTX and gefitinib arm had a baseline hCG < 1000 IU/I (622). One woman in the MTX and placebo arm did not provide consent and one women in the MTX and placebo arm had a baseline hCG > 5000 IU/I (5697).



FIGURE 2 Tipping point analysis in the placebo group.

Subgroup analysis was performed for the three prespecified variables used in the minimisation algorithm, namely baseline hCG levels (key subgroup), BMI and ectopic size. There was no evidence for varying effective in each subgroup analysis performed. The proportion of women who required surgical intervention in each subgroup is shown in *Table 9*.

TABLE 9 Subgroup analysis of primary outcome	primary outcome				
	MTX and gefitinib	MTX and placebo	Interaction, p-value	Adjusted risk ratio (95% CI)	Ratio (95% CI)
Key subgroup					
hCG level (IU/I)					
<1500	7/44 (16)	9/40 (23)	0.60	0.83 (0.35 to 2.01)	0.62 (0.00 to 1.24) ^c
≥1500 to <2500	21/64 (33)	20/64 (31)		1.07 (0.66 to 1.72)	0.80 (0.25 to 1.34) ^d
≥2500	22/57 (39)	18/56 (32)		1.34 (0.82 to 2.19)	REF
Exploratory subgroups					
BMI (kg/m²)					
<25	24/79 (30)	24/76 (32)	0.95	1.13 (0.71 to 1.80)	0.98 (0.34 to 1.62) ^e
≥25	26/86 (30)	23/84 (27)		1.15 (0.73 to 1.81)	
Ectopic size (cm)					
<2	42/121 (35)	37/122 (30)	0.32	1.22 (0.87 to 1.73)	1.57 (0.18 to 2.96) ^f
≥2	8/44 (18)	10/38 (26)		0.78 (0.35 to 1.76)	
REF, reference group. a Adjusted for the minimisation parameters: hCG level, BMI, ectopic b Ratio of subgroup effects. c hCG level < 1500 IU/I vs. hCG level ≥ 2500 IU/I. d hCG level 1500 to <2500 IU/I vs. hCG level ≥ 2500 IU/I. e BMI < 25 kg/m ² vs. BMI $\ge 25 kg/m^2$. f Ectopic size < 2 cm vs. ectopic size ≥ 2 cm.	on parameters: hCG level, BMI, CG level ≥ 2500 IU/I. J/I vs. hCG level ≥ 2500 IU/I. 5 kg/m². ic size ≥ 2 cm.		size and centre. Values < 1 favour MTX and gefitinib.	÷	

RESULTS OF THE CLINICAL TRIAL

TABLE 10 Analysis of secondary outcomes				
	MTX and gefitinib (N = 165)	MTX and placebo (N = 162)	Estimate (95% CI)	Estimate (95% CI)
Secondary outcomes				
Additional MTX – n/N (%)	20/165 (12)	23/162 (14)	0.86 ^b (0.57 to 1.28)	0.01° (-0.07 to 0.09)
Time to hCG resolution (\leq 15 IU/I) (days) ^d – median (IQR, N)	28.0 (23.5-36.0, 108)	28.0 (21.0-36.5, 108)	0.96° (0.69 to 1.33)	1.03 ^f (0.75 to 1.40)
Time to hCG resolution (\leq 30 IU/I) (days) [§] – median (IQR, N)	27.5 (20.0-35.0, 112)	27.0 (20.0-35.0, 111)	1.14 ^e (0.83 to 1.58)	1.08 ^f (0.79 to 1.46)
Number of hospital visits – median (IQR, N)	5.0 (4.0-7.0, 163)	5.0 (3.0-6.0, 162)	1.01 ^h (0.92 to 1.12)	ŀ
Satisfaction with effects of treatment - no. (%)				
Very satisfied	59/134 (44)	72/138 (52)	0.89 ⁱ (0.71 to 1.12)	ı
Mostly satisfied	44/134 (33)	33/138 (24)		
Neither satisfied nor dissatisfied	24/134 (18)	23/138 (17)		
Mostly dissatisfied	3/134 (2)	4/138 (3)		
Very dissatisfied	4/134 (3)	6/138 (4)		
Acceptability of study treatment - no. (%)				
Very acceptable	78/134 (58)	87/138 (63)	0.79 ⁱ (0.49 to 1.28)	ı
Mostly acceptable	32/134 (24)	32/138 (23)		
Neither acceptable nor unacceptable	19/134 (14)	13/138 (9)		
Mostly unacceptable	3/134 (2)	4/138 (3)		
Very unacceptable	2/134 (2)	2/138 (2)		
				continued

²¹

IABLE 10 Analysis of secondary outcomes (continuea)				
	MTX and gefitinib (N = 165)	MTX and placebo (N = 162)	Estimate (95% CI)	Estimate (95% CI)
Likely to recommend study treatment - no. (%)				
Very likely to recommend	78/134 (58)	93/139 (67)	0.6 ¹ (0.37 to 1.01)	ı
Fairly likely to recommend	32/134 (24)	33/139 (24)		
Neither likely to recommend or recommend against	15/134 (11)	4/139 (3)		
Fairly likely to recommend against	4/134 (3)	6/139 (4)		
Very likely to recommend against	5/134 (4)	3/139 (2)		
Time to return to menses (days) - median (IQR, N)	24.0 (24.0-38.0, 132)	24.0 (24.0-38.0, 134)	1.08 ^k (0.83 to 1.40)	
 N, number of observations. a Excluding the woman who did not provide consent. a Excluding the woman who did not provide consent. b RR, adjusted for the minimisation parameters: hCG level, BMI, ectopic size and centre. Values < 1 favour MTX and gefittinib. c RD, adjusted for the minimisation parameters: hCG level, BMI, ectopic size and centre. Obtained from a convergence issues). Values < 0 favour MTX and gefittinib. c RN, adjusted for the minimisation parameters: hCG level, BMI, ectopic size and centre. Obtained from a Cox proportional hazard model, censoring women who received in women whose pregnarcy is resolved (where a woman was followed up to a hCG ≤ 15 U/I and did not receive surgical intervention). c cause-specific HR, adjusted for the minimisation parameters: hCG level, BMI, ectopic size and centre obtained from a Cox proportional hazard model, censoring women who received surgical intervention HR, adjusted for the minimisation parameters: hCG level, BMI, ectopic size and centre obtained from a Cox proportional hazard model, censoring women who received surgical intervention HR, adjusted for the minimisation parameters: hCG level, BMI, ectopic size and centre. Values > 1 favour MTX and gefittinb. f sudsitstict for the minimisation parameters: hCG level, BMI, ectopic size and centre. Values > 1 favour MTX and gefittinb. RR, adjusted for the minimisation parameters: hCG level, BMI, ectopic size and centre. Values > 1 indicate participants allocated to MTX and gefittinb. RR, adjusted for the minimisation parameters: hCG level, BMI, ectopic size and centre. Values > 1 indicate participants allocated to MTX and gefittinb. RR, adjusted for the minimisation parameters: hCG level, BMI, ectopic size and centre. Values > 1 indicate participants allocated to MTX and gefittinb. RR, adjusted for the minimisation parameters: hCG level, BMI, ectopic size and centre. Values > 1 indicate participants allocated to	MII, ectopic size and centre. Values < MII and ectopic size (centre removed as followed up to a hCG ≤ 15 IU/l ar ers: hCG level, BMI, ectopic size and ur MTX and gefithinb. ers: hCG level, BMI, ectopic size and Values > 1 favour MTX and gefithinb. d (where a woman was followed up to BMI, ectopic size and centre. Values - MII, ectopic size and centre. Values - pants allocated to MTX and placebo. MII, ectopic size and centre. Values - pants allocated to MTX and placebo.	opic size and centre. Values < 1 favour MTX and gefitinib. ectopic size (centre removed from the model due to convergence issues). Values < 0 favour MTX and gefitinib. wed up to a hCG \leq 15 IU/I and did not receive surgical intervention). i level, BMI, ectopic size and centre. Obtained from a Cox proportional hazard model, censoring women who re and gefitinib. 5 level, BMI, ectopic size and centre obtained from a Fine and Gray model, where surgical intervention is consic 1 favour MTX and gefitinib. e a woman was followed up to a hCG \leq 30 IU/I and did not receive surgical intervention). topic size and centre. Values < 1 favour MTX and gefitinib. ectopic size and centre. Values < 1 favour MTX and gefitinib. popic size and centre. Values > 1 indicate participants alloccited to MTX and gefitinib have higher odds for accep located to MTX and placebo. pic size and centre. Values > 1 indicate participants alloccited to MTX and gefitinib have higher odds for accep located to MTX and placebo.	ce issues). Values < 0 favour h tion). rtional hazard model, censori ray model, where surgical int ve surgical intervention). e issues). Values > 1 indicate e issues). Values > 1 indicate	MTX and gefitinib. Ing women who received ervention is considered a participants allocated to ner odds for acceptability

Secondary outcome results

There were no differences in the secondary outcomes (*Table 10*). The median time to resolution of the EP (defined as serum hCG declining to ≤ 15 IU/I) for those where medical management successfully resolved the EP was 28.0 days (IQR 23.5–36.0, n = 108) in the gefitinib group and 28.0 (IQR 21.0–36.5, n = 108) days in the placebo group (cause specific HR of 0.96, 95% CI 0.69 to 1.33; subdistribution HR 1.03, 95% CI 0.75 to 1.40) (*Figure 3*). A second dose of MTX was administered to 12% (20/165) of participants in the gefitinib group and 14% (23/162) in the placebo group (adjusted RR 0.86, 95% CI 0.57 to 1.28). The number of hospital visits was similar in both groups. The median number of days before a return to menses was similar in both groups: 24.0 days (IQR 24.0–38.0, n = 132) in the gefitinib group versus 24.0 (IQR 24.0–38.0, n = 134) in the placebo group (adjusted HR 1.08, 95% CI 0.83 to 1.40). Both treatments had high rates of satisfaction (percentage of women who were very, or mostly satisfied was 77% in the gefitinib group and 76% in the placebo group).

Adverse events

The number of women who experienced a SAE was 3% (5/165) in the gefitinib group and 4% (6/162) in the placebo group (p = 0.74). One woman in the gefitinib group experienced a SUSAR as a result of a likely reaction to MTX. The proportions of women who reported diarrhoea or a rash were higher in the gefitinib group compared to the placebo group (*Table 11*). Further details of all AEs and SAEs are presented below in *Tables 12* and *13*.



FIGURE 3 Cumulative incidence function plot for time to $hCG \le 15 IU/I$ (by treatment group).

TABLE 11 Summary of reported expected symptoms/common side effects

	MTX and gefitinib (N = 165)	MTX and placebo (N = 162)
Reported symptoms – n/N (%)		
Abdominal pain	135/162 (83)	133/160 (83)
Dizziness	72/160 (45)	61/160 (38)
Nausea	104/161 (65)	97/160 (61)
Diarrhoea	75/160 (47)	39/161 (24)
Rash	97/159 (61)	36/160 (23)
Mouth ulcers	42/160 (26)	24/160 (15)
Fatigue	127/161 (79)	115/161 (71)
Vomiting	32/160 (20)	33/160 (21)
a Excluding the woman who die	d not provide consent.	

TABLE 12 Adverse events

	MTX and gefitinib (N = 165)	MTX and placebo (N = 162)
AEs - n/N (%)		
Number of women who experience an AE	37/165 (22)	38/162 (23)
Number of AEs - no.	52	63
Details of AEs (MEDRA coded v2.4) - no.		
Blood and lymphatic system disorders	2	1
Cardiac disorders	1	0
Ear and labyrinth disorders	2	0
Eye disorders	0	2
Gastrointestinal disorders	3	10
General system disorders and administration site conditions	0	3
Immune system disorders	0	2
Infections and infestations	5	7
Investigations	2	7
Metabolism and nutritional disorders	1	1
Musculoskeletal and connective tissue disorders	5	3
Nervous system disorders	5	6
Neurological disorders NEC	3	0
Pregnancy, puerperium and perinatal conditions	8	6
Psychiatric and behavioural symptoms	2	1
Renal and urinary disorders	2	0
Reproductive system and breast disorders	0	4
Respiratory disorders	0	3
Respiratory, thoracic and mediastinal disorders	1	0

TABLE 12 Adverse events (continued)

	MTX and gefitinib (N = 165)	MTX and placebo (N = 162)
Skin and subcutaneous tissue disorders	6	6
Surgical and medical procedures	3	1
Vascular disorder	1	0
SAEs - n/N (%)		
Total number of women experiencing a SAE	5/165 (3)	6/162 (4)
Number of SAE's reported – no.	5	6
Details of SAEs (MEDRA coded v2.4) - no.		
Gastrointestinal disorders	1	1
Immune system disorders	1	0
Infections and infestations	1	0
Investigations	2	2
Pregnancy, puerperium and perinatal conditions	0	1
Reproductive system and breast disorders	0	1
Respiratory, thoracic and mediastinal disorders	0	1
a Excluding the woman who did not provide consent.		

TABLE 13 Details of SAEs

MTX and gefitinib

Seen in EPU – abdominal pain. Admitted and scan arranged. Urology in surgical triage. Seen for a CT scan. Showed no renal calculi and pain settling. Discharged with no clinical diagnosis.

Patient attended out of hours with abdominal pain. There was no evidence of rupture of ectopic (as she did not have ultrasound at attendance). It was a clinical decision to proceed with laparoscopic salpingectomy, which was uncomplicated with evidence of drop in serum hCG levels. Patient was discharged and follow-up bloods obtained. Normal.

¹Hyperventilated after MTX injection. Blood pressure and pulse and O² sats stable throughout the episode. However, as patient was very worried about reaction, she was admitted overnight and given antihistamines. Following this reaction, the patient declined to take IMP.

Seen in gynae assessment unit with increase in lower right sided abdominal pain radiating down leg and unable to sit down. Admitted overnight and scanned. Initial diagnosis was potential rupture of ectopic. Increase in free fluid but no mass seen therefore ruled out. Settled slightly and admitted home. Seen in clinic – pain still there but not as extreme.

Participant seen for follow-up visit. Distressed due to lower abdominal pain. Decision then made to hospitalise later that day for analgesia, IV antibiotics, fluids, and further investigations due to previous history of pelvic inflammatory disease. Investigations continuing to confirm diagnosis, has also history of ovarian cyst.

MTX and placebo

Patient attended accident and emergency with difficulty in breathing, coughing green/brown sputum. Kept overnight for IV antibiotics.

UTI and sepsis, abdominal pain requiring laparoscopy lap negative IV antibiotics as inpatient discharged home on oral antibiotics in patient for 4 days FOLLOW-UP Abdominal pain – raised CRP, septic bundle commenced, inpatient for 4 days. Diagnostic laparoscopy or ovarian cyst. Antibiotics. Seen, feels recovered physically.

Admitted with increasing abdominal pain. Known right ovarian cyst and ectopic. Managed conservatively with analgesia. Diagnosed with urinary tract infection and treated with antibiotics.

continued

Copyright © 2023 Moakes *et al.* This work was produced by Moakes *et al.* under the terms of a commissioning contract issued by the Secretary of State for Health and Social Care. This is an Open Access publication distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution CC BY 4.0 licence, which permits unrestricted use, distribution, reproduction and adaptation in any medium and for any purpose provided that it is properly attributed. See: https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/. For attribution the title, original author(s), the publication source – NIHR Journals Library, and the DOI of the publication must be cited.

TABLE 13 Details of SAEs (continued)

Reattended with pain left iliac fossa pain. Repeat USS shows – free fluid, left ectopic and new right sided multicystic structure. hCG dropped and haemoglobin stable. Allowed home.

Rising hCG levels. Laparoscopy did not show any EP, intrauterine pregnancy of uncertain viability seen on USS. Review of USS – definitely no intrauterine pregnancy seen. Laparoscopy – no EP seen. Heterotopic pregnancy not ruled out yet.

Admitted to gynae with severe pain. Scanned. Ruptured ectopic. Emergency laparoscopy. Procedure actually confirmed ruptured ovarian cyst on opposite side. However, tubal pregnancy removed surgically at same time. Overnight stay on gynae ward. Discharged.

* Denotes SUSAR.

Chapter 4 Discussion

This is the first randomised placebo-controlled clinical trial to evaluate the treatment of tubal EP with a combination of MTX and gefitinib. It conclusively demonstrates that adding oral gefitinib to standard medical treatment in women with a tubal EP does not reduce surgical intervention. Combination treatment may also cause symptoms, such as a rash or gastrointestinal upset.

Our preclinical and three previous single arm clinical studies suggested that the addition of gefitinib to standard medical treatment with MTX could have been a better medical treatment capable of resolving most EPs.¹¹⁻¹⁴ While we were aware of the potential limitations associated with our earlier non-randomised clinical studies, we believed that the use of a complimentary combination chemotherapeutic drug was a very reasonable approach and we proceeded to our phase III clinical trial.

Nonetheless, the robustness of our trial design, including our large sample size, blinding to treatment allocation, near complete capture of the primary outcome and high adherence rates, ensures internal validity and enables our findings to be interpreted with certainty. In addition, we minimised with respect to serum hCG concentrations, BMI and EP size: all factors that are potentially prognostic for the success of MTX treatment. While it is possible that the excess number of reported symptoms known to be associated with gefitinib, particularly the facial rash, could have led to unblinding in some participants, it is unlikely that the decision to perform surgery would have been influenced by anything other than clinical need. Furthermore, the CIs around our comparative estimate exclude a small relative reduction of 15% or more, so we can conclude that gefitinib is not clinically effective.

It is possible that our trial has failed due to the dose of gefitinib being too low, or due to poor drug penetration. 'Precision dosing', based on drug penetration, has been suggested to outcomes in cancer trials.³⁰ However, this approach would have required state-of-the-art techniques that are out with the scope of our study.³¹⁻³³ If poor drug penetration was the reason for our negative findings, it may mean that combination treatment with gefitinib and MTX may still prove useful for other placental-related disorders where drug penetration may be better, such as molar or extratubal pregnancies.

Our trial provides useful information for counselling patients and to support recommendations in guidelines for EP. Specifically, we show that women with EP (with a pretreatment hCG of 1000–5000 IU/I) treated with IM MTX alone take a median of 28 days (IQR 21.0–36.5 days) to resolve (when medical treatment is successful), require a second dose of MTX in 14% of cases (95% CI 9% to 20%), require surgery in 29% (95% CI 22% to 36%) of cases, return to normal menstruation after a median of 24 days (IQR 24.0–38.0 days), and are highly satisfied with their treatment.

In summary, our results show that the combination of gefitinib with MTX is not clinically effective for the treatment of tubal EP. The addition of gefitinib does not reduce subsequent surgical intervention and is associated with higher rates of reported symptoms than placebo.

Equality, diversity and inclusion

As this trial took place in a semi-emergency setting with restrictive inclusion criteria we were unable to target specific under-represented groups. However, we were open to recruitment across 74 sites in Scotland, England and Wales, some rural and some inner city, and the ethnic diversity of the PIs and research staff at these sites was broad. In addition, we had PIs ranging from experienced consultants to nurse practitioners, encouraging nurses to take on PI roles as the EPUs (where the recruitment was carried out) were often managed by nursing staff. Of the 328 women recruited to this trial 248 of these were White (76%); 38 were Asian (12%) and 21 were Black (6%).

Implications for practice

The key findings of GEM3 are clear: women with a tubal EP should not be offered combination of gefitinib and MTX because it is no more effective than treatment with MTX alone. However, our trial has generated high-quality evidence on the success rates of IM treatment with MTX – how long it takes for the EP to resolve and how many will need rescue surgery (failed medical treatment). These data will be immediately useful for patient counselling (to help them choose either surgery or medical management) and for inclusion in early pregnancy guidelines.

Recommendations for future research

In our opinion, no further research is required to evaluate the role of gefitinib in the management of women with tubal EPs. Questions that remain unaddressed relate to the use of combination treatment for other extrauterine and uterine EPs, such as caesarean scar pregnancies, or in the management of choriocarcinoma.

Acknowledgements

Contributions of authors

Catherine A Moakes (https://orcid.org/0000-0002-0473-0532) (Trial Statistician) performed the analyses for the trial, contributed to the interpretation of the trial and the drafting of the report.

Stephen Tong (https://orcid.org/0000-0002-2319-0586) (Professor of Obstetrics and Gynaecology) contributed to the design, delivery, analysis and interpretation of all components of GEM3, the first draft and overall editing of the final report.

Lee J Middleton (https://orcid.org/0000-0003-4621-1922) (Senior Statistician) contributed to the design of GEM3, oversaw the statistical analysis, contributed to the interpretation of the trial and the drafting of the report.

W Colin Duncan (https://orcid.org/0000-0002-7170-5740) (Professor of Reproductive Medicine and Science) contributed to the design, delivery, analysis and interpretation of all components of GEM3, the first draft and overall editing of the final report.

Ben W Mol (https://orcid.org/0000-0001-8337-550X) (Professor of Obstetrics and Gynaecology) contributed to the design, delivery, analysis and interpretation of all components of GEM3, the first draft and overall editing of the final report.

Lucy H R Whitaker (https://orcid.org/0000-0002-7678-6551) (NES/CSO Clinical Lecturer in Obstetrics and Gynaecology) contributed to the editing of the final report.

Davor Jurkovic (https://orcid.org/0000-0001-6487-5736) (Consultant Gynaecologist) contributed to the editing of the final report.

Arri Coomarasamy (https://orcid.org/0000-0002-3261-9807) (Professor of Gynaecology) contributed to the editing of the final report.

Natalie Nunes (https://orcid.org/0000-0003-1801-6281) (Consultant Obstetrician and Gynaecologist) contributed to the editing of the final report.

Tom Holland (https://orcid.org/0000-0001-5727-0659) (Consultant Gynaecologist) contributed to the editing of the final report.

Fiona Clarke (https://orcid.org/0000-0003-0298-9601) (Consultant Obstetrician and Gynaecologist) contributed to the editing of the final report.

Lauren C Sutherland (https://orcid.org/0000-0001-5465-8586) (Trial Co-ordinator) was responsible for the day-to-day management, delivery of the trial, drafting the report and overall editing of the final report.

Ann M Doust (https://orcid.org/0000-0001-8726-7186) (Research Manager) contributed to the design of GEM3, was responsible for the day-to-day management and delivery of the trial, contributed to drafting the report and overall editing of the final report.

Jane P Daniels (https://orcid.org/0000-0003-3324-6771) (Professor of Clinical Trials) contributed to the design, delivery and interpretation of the trial and editing of the final report.

Andrew W Horne (https://orcid.org/0000-0002-9656-493X) (Professor of Gynaecology and Reproductive Sciences and Chief Investigator) contributed to the design, delivery, analysis and interpretation of all components of GEM3, the first draft and overall editing of the final report.

Members of the GEM3 Collaborative Group

Co-investigators

Stephen Tong, Co-investigator, University of Melbourne, Melbourne, Australia Ben Mol, Co-investigator, Monash University, Melbourne Colin Duncan, Co-investigator, University of Edinburgh, Edinburgh Jane Daniels, Co-investigator, University of Nottingham, Nottingham Professor Arri Coomarasamy, University of Birmingham, Birmingham Mrs Alexandra Peace-Gadsby, Ectopic Pregnancy Trust Lee J Middleton, University of Birmingham, Birmingham Mr Davor Jurkovic, University College Hospital, London Miss Cecilia Bottomley, Chelsea and Westminster Hospital, London Professor Tom Bourne, Imperial College, London Trial Management Group Andrew W Horne (Chair), Chief Investigator, University of Edinburgh, Edinburgh Stephen Tong, Co-investigator, University of Melbourne, Melbourne, Australia Jane Daniels, Co-investigator, University of Nottingham, Nottingham Ben Mol, Co-investigator, Monash University, Melbourne Colin Duncan, Co-investigator, University of Edinburgh, Edinburgh Catherine A Moakes, Statistician, University of Birmingham, Birmingham Lee J Middleton, Senior Statistician, University of Birmingham, Birmingham Ann M Doust, Research Manager, University of Edinburgh, Edinburgh Frances Collins, Trial/Lab Manager, University of Edinburgh, Edinburgh Lauren Sutherland, Trial Co-ordinator, University of Edinburgh, Edinburgh Clive Stubbs, Team Lead, Birmingham Clinical Trials Unit, University of Birmingham, Birmingham Jordan Doust, Data manager, University of Edinburgh, Edinburgh Principal Investigators and recruiting sites Sherif Saleh, Aberdeen Maternity Hospital, Aberdeen Miriam Baumgarten, Addenbrookes Hospital, Cambridge Ben Galea, Addenbrookes Hospital, Cambridge Sinha Sanjay, Furness General Hospital, Barrow-in-Furness Malar Raja, Basildon University Hospital, Basildon Thangamma Katimada-Annaiah, Bedford Hospital, Bedford Pratima Gupta, Heartlands Hospital, Birmingham Justin Chu, Birmingham Women's Hospital, Birmingham Faye Rodger, Borders General Hospital, Melrose Fiona Clarke, Burnley General Hospital, Burnley Satya Duvvur, Queen's Hospital, Burton-On-Trent Monique Latibeaudiere, Cardiff Royal Infirmary, Cardiff Natalie Nunes, West Middlesex Hospital, Isleworth Victoria Finney, Countess of Chester Hospital, Chester Janet Cresswell, Chesterfield Royal Hospital, Chesterfield Feras Izzat, University Hospital Coventry, Coventry Rebecca Thompson, Leighton Hospital, Crewe Sonal Anderson, University Hospital Crosshouse, Kilmarnock

Fouzia Memon, Cumberland Infirmary, Cumberland Jerry Oghoetouma, Darlington Memorial Hospital, Darlington Gabriel Awadzi, Darent Valley Hospital, Dartford Manju Sindhu, Doncaster Royal Infirmary, Doncaster Binita Pande, Ninewells Hospital, Dundee Velur Sindhu, University Hospital of Durham, Durham Lucy Whitaker, Royal Infirmary of Edinburgh, Edinburgh Mayank Madhra, Royal Infirmary of Edinburgh, Edinburgh Sangeetha Devarajan, Epsom and St Helier Hospitals, Epsom Jananki Putran, Princess Alexandra Hospital, Harlow Shahzya Huda, Forth Valley Hospital, Larbert Sridevi Sankharan, Frimley Park Hospital, Camberley Chitra Kumar, Princess Royal Maternity Hospital, Glasgow Kelly Bingham, Gloucestershire Royal Hospital, Gloucester Shruti Mohan, Hillingdon Hospital, Hillingdon Hema Nosib, Hinchingbrooke Hospital, Hinchingbrooke Sandra Watson, Homerton Hospital, Homerton Kate Stewart, Raigmore Hospital, Inverness Jackie Ross, King's College Hospital, London Punukollu Durgadevi, Victoria Hospital, Fife Penny Robshaw, Liverpool Women's Hospital, Liverpool Ursula Winters, St Mary's Hospital, Manchester Gautam Raie, Norfolk and Norwich University Hospital, Norwich Shilpa Deb, The Queen's Medical Centre, Nottingham Rebecca McKay, Peterborough City Hospital, Peterborough Joanne Page, Derriford Hospital, Plymouth Krupa Madhvani, Poole Hospital, Poole Tom Bourne, Queen Charlotte and Chelsea Hospital, London Mona Sharma, Queen's Hospital, Romford Radwan Faraj, Rotherham General Hospital, Rotherham Emma Kirk, Royal Free Hospital, London Renee Behrens, Royal Hampshire County Hospital, Winchester Gourab Misra, Royal Stoke Hospital, Stoke-On-Trent Sujan Sen, Scunthorpe General Hospital, Scunthorpe Jo Fletcher, Royal Hallamshire Hospital, Sheffield Pinky Khatri, James Cook Hospital, South Tees Umo Esen, South Tyneside District Hospital, South Tyneside Sundararajah Raajkumar, Southend Hospital, Southend-On Sea Susannah Hogg, Southmead Hospital, Bristol Abigail Oliver, St Michael's Hospital, Bristol Ngozi Izuwah-Njoku, St Peter's Hospital, Chertsey Tom Holland, St Thomas' Hospital, London Sucheta Iyengar, Stoke Mandeville Hospital, Aylesbury Amna Ahmed, Sunderland Royal Hospital, Sunderland Catherine Wykes, East Surrey Hospital, Redhill Millicent Anim-Somuah, Tameside Hospital, Tameside Davor Jurkovic, University College Hospital, London James Davis, Manor Hospital, Walsall Vinita Raheja, Wansbeck General Hospital, Wansbeck Helena Nik, Warrington Hospital, Warrington Rita Arya, Warrington Hospital, Warrington Suganya Sukumaran, Warwick Hospital, Warwick Barkha Sinha, West Suffolk Hospital, Bury St Edmunds

Sandhya Rao, Whiston Hospital, Whiston Rajalakshmi Rajagopal, University Hospital Wishaw, Wishaw Sakunthala Tirumuru, New Cross Hospital, Wolverhampton Mamta Pathak, Worcestershire Royal Hospital, Worcester Geeta Kumar, Wrexham Maelor Hospital, Wrexham

Sponsor

ACCORD – NHS Lothian and University of Edinburgh Monitoring and Audit team led by Elizabeth Craig and Lorn MacKenzie

Ethics statement

The trial was approved by Scotland A REC committee (ref: 16/SS/0014) on 29 February 2016.

Data-sharing statement

All data requests should be submitted to the corresponding author for consideration. Access to anonymised data may be granted following review.

Patient data

This work uses data provided by patients and collected by the NHS as part of their care and support. Using patient data is vital to improve health and care for everyone. There is huge potential to make better use of information from people's patient records, to understand more about disease, develop new treatments, monitor safety and plan NHS services. Patient data should be kept safe and secure, to protect everyone's privacy, and it is important that there are safeguards to make sure that it is stored and used responsibly. Everyone should be able to find out about how patient data is used. #datasaveslives. You can find out more about the background to this citation here: https://understandingpatientdata.org.uk/data-citation.

References

- 1. Creanga AA, Shapiro-Mendoza CK, Bish CL, Zane S, Berg CJ, Callaghan WM. Trends in ectopic pregnancy mortality in the United States: 1980-2007. *Obstet Gynecol* 2011;**117**(4):837–43.
- 2. Say L, Chou D, Gemmill A, Tuncalp O, Moller AB, Daniels J, *et al.* Global causes of maternal death: a WHO systematic analysis. *Lancet Glob Health* 2014;**2**(6):e323–33.
- Jurkovic D, Wilkinson H. Diagnosis and management of ectopic pregnancy. BMJ 2011;342:d3397.
- 4. Farquhar CM. Ectopic pregnancy. Lancet 2005;366(9485):583-91.
- 5. Ankum WM, Mol BW, Van der Veen F, Bossuyt PM. Risk factors for ectopic pregnancy: a metaanalysis. *Fertil Steril* 1996;**65**(6):1093–9.
- Stovall TG, Ling FW, Gray LA. Single-dose methotrexate for treatment of ectopic pregnancy. Obstet Gynecol 1991;77(5):754–7.
- National Institute for Health and Care Excellence. Ectopic Pregnancy and Miscarriage: Diagnosis and Initial Management NICE Guideline [NG126]. Published: 17 April 2019. Last updated: 24 November 2021.
- Skubisz MM, Tong S. Of leaves and butterflies: how methotrexate came to be the savior of women. Obstet Gynecol 2011;118(5):1169–73.
- National Institute for Health and Care Excellence. Ectopic Pregnancy and Miscarriage. Diagnosis and Initial Management in Early Pregnancy of Ectopic Pregnancy and Miscarriage. NICE clinical guidelines 154. 2012. URL: http://www.guidance.nice.org.uk/cg154
- 10. Sendy F, AlShehri E, AlAjmi A, Bamanie E, Appani S, Shams T. Failure rate of single dose methotrexate in management of ectopic pregnancy. *Obstet Gynecol Int* 2015;**2015**:902426.
- 11. Nilsson UW, Johns TG, Wilmann T, Kaitu'u-Lino T, Whitehead C, Dimitriadis E, *et al.* Effects of gefitinib, an epidermal growth factor receptor inhibitor, on human placental cell growth. *Obstet Gynecol* 2013;**122**(4):737–44.
- 12. Skubisz MM, Horne AW, Johns TG, Nilsson UW, Duncan WC, Wallace EM, *et al.* Combination gefitinib and methotrexate compared with methotrexate alone to treat ectopic pregnancy. *Obstet Gynecol* 2013;**122**(4):745–51.
- Horne AW, Skubisz MM, Tong S, Duncan WC, Neil P, Wallace EM, Johns TG. Combination gefitinib and methotrexate treatment for non-tubal ectopic pregnancies: a case series. *Hum Reprod* 2014;**29**(7):1375–9.
- 14. Skubisz MM, Tong S, Doust A, Mollison J, Johns TG, Neil P, *et al.* Gefitinib and methotrexate to treat ectopic pregnancies with a pre-treatment serum hCG 1000-10,000IU/L: phase II open label, single arm multi-centre trial. *EBioMedicine* 2018;**33**:276–81.
- Italiano S, Tong S, Readman E, Tassone M, Hastie R, Pritchard N. Combination methotrexate and gefitinib: a potential medical treatment for inoperable nontubal ectopic pregnancy. J Obstet Gynaecol Res 2020;46(3):531–5.
- 16. Tong S, Skubisz MM, Horne AW. Molecular diagnostics and therapeutics for ectopic pregnancy. *Mol Hum Reprod* 2015;**21**(2):126–35.
- 17. Herbst RS, Fukuoka M, Baselga J. Gefitinib a novel targeted approach to treating cancer. *Nat Rev Cancer* 2004;**4**(12):956–65.

- 18. Dhillon SG. A review of its use in adults with advanced non-small cell lung cancer. *Target Oncol* 2015;**10**:154–70.
- 19. LaMarca HL, Dash PR, Vishnuthevan K, Harvey E, Sullivan DE, Morris CA, Whitley GSJ. Epidermal growth factor-stimulated extravillous cytotrophoblast motility is mediated by the activation of PI3-K, Akt and both p38 and p42/44 mitogen-activated protein kinases. *Hum Reprod* 2008;**23**(8):1733–41.
- 20. Johnstone ED, Mackova M, Das S, Payne SG, Lowen B, Sibley CP, *et al.* Multiple anti-apoptotic pathways stimulated by EGF in cytotrophoblasts. *Placenta* 2005;**26**(7):548–55.
- 21. Wolff GS, Chiang PJ, Smith SM, Romero R, Armant DR. Epidermal growth factor-like growth factors prevent apoptosis of alcohol-exposed human placental cytotrophoblast cells. *Biol Reprod* 2007;**77**(1):53–60.
- 22. Sibilia M, Wagner EF. Strain-dependent epithelial defects in mice lacking the EGF receptor. *Science* 1995;**269**(5221):234–8.
- 23. Cohen MH, Williams GA, Sridhara R, Chen G, McGuinn WD Jr, Morse D, *et al.* United States Food and Drug Administration Drug Approval summary: Gefitinib (ZD1839; Iressa) tablets. *Clin Cancer Res* 2004;**10**(4):1212–8.
- Horne AW, Skubisz MM, Doust A, Duncan WC, Wallace E, Critchley HO, *et al.* Phase II single arm open label multicentre clinical trial to evaluate the efficacy and side effects of a combination of gefitinib and methotrexate to treat tubal ectopic pregnancies (GEM II): study protocol. *BMJ Open* 2013;**3**(7):e002902.
- May J, Duncan C, Mol B, Bhattacharya S, Daniels J, Middleton L, *et al.* A multi-centre, double-blind, placebo-controlled, randomised trial of combination methotrexate and gefitinib versus methotrexate alone to treat tubal ectopic pregnancies (GEM3): trial protocol. *Trials* 2018;**19**(1):643–8.
- 26. Austin PC, Fine JP. Accounting for competing risks in randomized controlled trials: a review and recommendations for improvement. *Stat Med* 2017;**36**(8):1203–9.
- 27. Latouche A, Allignol A, Beyersmann J, Labopin M, Fine JP. A competing risks analysis should report results on all cause-specific hazards and cumulative incidence functions. *J Clin Epidemiol* 2013;**66**(6):648–53.
- 28. Peto R, Pike MC, Armitage P, Breslow NE, Cox DR, Howard SV, *et al.* Design and analysis of randomized clinical trials requiring prolonged observation of each patient. I. Introduction and design. *Br J Cancer* 1976;**34**(6):585–612.
- 29. Grant AM, Altman DG, Babiker AG, Campbell MK. A proposed charter for clinical trial data monitoring committees: helping them to do their job well. *The Lancet (British edition)* 2005;**365**(9460):711–22.
- Bartelink IH, Jones EF, Shahidi-Latham SK, Lee PRE, Zheng Y, Vicini P, et al. Tumor drug penetration measurements could be the neglected piece of the personalized cancer treatment puzzle. *Clin Pharmacol Ther* 2019;**106**(1):148–63.
- 31. Goins B, Phillips WT, Bao A. Strategies for improving the intratumoral distribution of liposomal drugs in cancer therapy. *Expert Opin Drug Deliv* 2016;**13**(6):873–89.
- Khawar IA, Kim JH, Kuh H-J. Improving drug delivery to solid tumors: priming the tumor microenvironment. J Control Release 2015;201:78–89.
- 33. Yankeelov TE, An G, Saut O, Luebeck EG, Popel AS, Ribba B, *et al.* Multi-scale modeling in clinical oncology: opportunities and barriers to success. *Ann Biomed Eng* 2016;**44**(9):2626–41.

EME HSDR HTA PGfAR PHR

Part of the NIHR Journals Library www.journalslibrary.nihr.ac.uk

This report presents independent research funded by the National Institute for Health and Care Research (NIHR). The views expressed are those of the author(s) and not necessarily those of the NHS, the NIHR or the Department of Health and Social Care

Published by the NIHR Journals Library